SID J. WHITE

MAR 30 1998

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 92,670

## DANIEL EUGENE REMETA,

Appellant,

۷.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

TODD G. SCHER Chief Assistant CCRC Capital Collateral Regional Counsel-South 1444 Biscayne Blvd. Suite 202 Miami, Florida 33132

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

CLERK, WARDANE COURT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of an order denying Mr. Remeta's second Rule 3.850 motion without an evidentiary hearing.

The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

"R" -- record on direct appeal to this Court;

"PC-R" -- record on instant appeal to this Court;"

All other citations will be self-explanatory.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Mr. Remeta was indicted by a grand jury for one count of first-degree murder on July I, 1985 (R. 2259). Mr. Remeta was tried by a jury and convicted of premeditated murder in the first degree (R. 2535). A penalty phase was conducted and Mr. Remeta was sentenced to death on the same day (R. 2239, 2554). Mr. Remeta's conviction and sentence were affirmed on direct appeal. Remeta v. State, 522 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 1988). On October 3, 1988, certiorari was denied by the United States Supreme Court. Remeta v. Florida, 109 S. Ct. 182 (1988).

On February 19, 1990, Mr. Remeta timely filed his Rule 3.850 motion. That motion was denied following a limited evidentiary hearing, and this Court affirmed on appeal, as well as denied a state habeas petition. Remeta v. <u>Dugger</u>, 622 So. 2d 452

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Mr. Remeta is writing this brief without the benefit of a record. So there will be no references to page numbers. Further, all references to attachments are the attachments to the appendices filed with the Rule 3.850 motion. Mr. Remeta has already lodged these appendices to the Court.

(Fla. 1993).

Mr. Remeta then filed a Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 2254, which was summarily denied on June 15, 1994. <u>Remeta v. Sinqletarv</u>, No. 93-148-Civ-Oc-16 (M.D. Fla. 1994). An appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit was subsequently denied. <u>Remeta v. Sinqletarv</u>, 85 F. 3d 513 (I Ith Cir.), <u>reh'q</u>. <u>denied</u>, 96 F. 3d 1459 (11th Cir. 1996).

On January 3, 1997, Mr. Remeta filed a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari in the United States Supreme Court, which was denied on March 24, 1997. <u>Remeta v.</u> Singletarv, 117 S. Ct. 1320, reh'q. denied, 117 S. Ct. 1727 (1997).

On December 9, 1997, Governor Lawton Chiles signed a death warrant on Mr. Remeta. He is scheduled to be electrocuted by the State of Florida at 7:00 a.m. on March 31, 1998.

Mr. Remeta filed a motion to compel production of public records, and a hearing was conducted on January 23, 1998.

On February 18, 1998, Mr. Remeta's counsel filed a motion to withdraw due to a conflict of interest. Judge Angel denied the motion, and an appeal was taken to this Court. The Court affirmed, finding no conflict of interest. Remeta v. State, \_\_\_\_\_ Fla. L. Weekly S\_\_ (Fla. 1998).

On March 24, 1998, Mr. **Remeta** filed a second Rule 3.850 motion, as well as a motion to compel against the Department of Corrections.<sup>2</sup> A telephonic <u>Huff</u> hearing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Mr. Remeta had requested records regarding the executions of Gerald Eugene Stano and Leo Alexander Jones. DOC counsel Mary Ellen McDonald informed the undersigned's office this afternoon that the requested information would be sent via

took place at 4:00 PM on March 25, 1998. After hearing arguments by both parties, Judge Angel issued an order denying the Rule 3.850 motion without an evidentiary hearing early in the morning of March 27, 1998. This appeal follows.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Remeta's claims regarding the constitutionality of the electric chair. None of the procedural bars found by the lower court is borne out by the Rule 3.850 motion or the record in this case. As the State conceded in its response, Mr. Remeta's claim is predicated on information arising since the March, 1997, botched execution of Pedro Medina. This information was not and could not have been previously raised. Moreover, despite asking to do so, Mr. Remeta was not permitted to participate in the Jones litigation. Mr. Remeta, like Mr. Jones, should be given his day in court. Mr. Remeta alleged information in his Rule 3.850 motion that was never raised in Jones, and the lower court, in its summary disposition of this claim, did not even address these issues. Reversal and a stay of execution are required so that an evidentiary hearing can be conducted.

2. The lower court failed to address Mr. Remeta's claims regarding the financial situation of CCRC-South. Mr. Remeta's counsel received new information as

Federal Express to arrive at the undersigned's office on Saturday, March 28, 1998. Unfortunately, as the undersigned pointed out to the lower court during the <u>Huff</u> hearing, CCRC-South is out of money and unable to hire an expert to review the documents. <u>See</u> Argument II. These documents are critical to a proper disposition to this claim. For example, Mr. Remeta's counsel understands that during the electrocution of Leo Jones on March 24, 1998, witnesses observed breathing movements from Mr. Jones minutes after the electricity was turned off. Mr. Remeta needs the records, time, and resources in order to confer with experts as to this information, which certainly contradicts the State's position in Jones that death is instantaneous.

a result of public records requests; however, without funds, counsel is unable to investigate any of this information. The State's failure to adequately fund CCRC-South has resulted in a denial of due process and equal protection to Mr. Remeta. Reversal and a stay of execution are required until this Court resolves the funding crisis.

3. The lower court erred in refusing to stay Mr. Remeta's execution while the

constitutionality of the Kansas convictions used by the State at the guilt and penalty

phases of Mr. Remeta's capital trial continue to be litigated in the courts of Kansas.

#### ARGUMENT I

## THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE CLAIMS RELATING TO THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF JUDICIAL ELECTROCUTION.

In denying Mr. Remeta's claim regarding judicial electrocution, the lower court

made the following ruling:

After carefully considering the Motion and appendices filed therewith, the Response to the Motion, the argument presented at the hearing on the claims, and after being otherwise duly advised in the premises, the Court hereby finds that each of the claims and each of the many arguments made in support of each of the claims is procedurally barred in that: 1) the claims were previously raised in Remeta's prior rule 3.850 motion; or 2) through the exercise of due diligence, the claims could have or should have been raised in Remeta's prior rule 3.850 motion; or 3) the Florida Supreme Court has already decided the issues in Jones v. State, 701 So. 2d 76 (Fla. 1997), petition for cert. filed, (U.S. Jan. 20, 1998) (No. 97-7647), and Buenoano v. State, Fla.S.Ct. March 26, 1998, Case No. 92,522.

The lower court erred in all respects in denying this claim as either procedurally barred

or already decided on the basis of Jones and Buenoano.

A. The trial court erred in finding Mr. Remeta's claims procedurally barred because they were previously raised in a prior rule 3.850 motion.

Mr. Remeta's claims were not previously raised in a prior rule 3.850 motion. As the State conceded in its response to Mr. Remeta's motion, "the claims contained in Remeta's successive Rule 3.850 motion are based solely on the events of the execution of Pedro Medina in March of 1997" (Response at 12-13). Thus, Mr. Remeta's claim is not "successive" within the meaning of Rule 3.850 (b)(l), as "the facts on which the claim is predicated were unknown to the movant or the movant's attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence." The State conceded this point in its response. Thus, the lower court erred in finding any procedural bar to this claim.

Mr. Remeta's claims in fact could not have been previously raised because they rely on events which have occurred since March 24, 1997: the execution of Pedro Medina and the April 16, 1997 adoption of "Execution Day Procedures" and "Testing Procedures for the Electric Chair" by Department of Corrections (DOC) Secretary, Harry K. Singletary, Jr, (as the State conceded).

## B. The trial court erred in finding that Mr. **Remeta's** claims are procedurally barred because they could have or should have been raised in his prior Rule 3.850 motion.

The trial court erroneously found that Mr. Remeta's claims were procedurally barred because they could have or should have been raised in Mr. Remeta's prior rule 3.850 motion. Mr. Remeta's claims were raised in the same manner in which Leo Jones raised his claims. This Court determined that an evidentiary hearing was warranted in the <u>Jones</u> case. Because Mr. Remeta **was** prevented from joining the Jones case, he has requested an opportunity to present his evidence - the same opportunity afforded

to Mr. Jones.

Mr. Remeta's claims were not previously raised in his prior rule 3.850 motion because they could not have been - the facts upon which the claims were based had either not occurred or not come to light when he filed his prior Rule 3.850 motion. Again, Mr. Remeta's claims were based on the March 24, 1997 execution of Pedro Medina and the April 16, 1997 modification of DOC's procedures. Again, the State conceded this point below: "the claims contained in Remeta's successive Rule 3.850 motion are based solely on the events of the execution of Pedro Medina in March of 1997" (Response at 12-13).

Under rule 3.850, Mr. Remeta's claims were properly and timely raised and his allegations are unrebutted by the record. The grant of an evidentiary hearing when the facts alleged are unrebutted by the record and would entitle the defendant to relief is the law of this State. A trial court has only two options when presented with a Rule 3.850 motion: "either grant [] an evidentiary hearing, or alternatively attach to any order denying relief adequate portions of the record affirmatively demonstrating that appellant is not entitled to relief on the claims asserted." Witherspoon v. State, 590 So. 2d 1138 (4th DCA 1992). A trial court may not summarily deny without "attach(ing) portions of the files and records conclusively showing the appellant is entitled to no relief." <u>Brown v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 1026, 1028 (Fla. 1992); <u>Rodriauez v. State</u>, 592 So. 2d 1261 (2nd DCA 1992); <u>see also Bell v. State</u>, 595 So, 2d 1018 (2nd DCA 1992).

The law strongly favors full evidentiary hearings in capital postconviction cases, especially where a claim is grounded in factual as opposed to legal matters. "Because

vi

the trial court denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing and without attaching any portion of the record to the order of denial, our review is limited to determining whether the motion conclusively shows on its face that [Mr. Remeta] is entitled to no relief." <u>Gorham v. State</u>, 521 So. 2d 1067, 1069 (Fla. 1988). <u>See also LeDuc v. State</u>, 415 So. 2d 721, 722 (Fla. 1982). "This Court must determine whether the two allegations . . . are sufficient to require an evidentiary hearing. Under Rule 3.850 procedure, <u>a movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless the motion and record conclusively show that the movant is not entitled to relief (citations omitted)." <u>Harich v. State</u>, 484 So. 2d 1239, 1240 (Fla. 1986)(emphasis added).</u>

The trial court's denial of this case is in stark contrast to the clear and unmistakable requirements of the law. The trial court failed to attach any record or files in this case to conclusively show that Mr. **Remeta** is not entitled to relief.

# C. Mr. Remeta was not a patty to the <u>Jones</u> proceedings and the trial court erred in finding his claims procedurally barred by this Court's decision in <u>Jones</u>.<sup>3</sup>

Mr. Remeta sought leave of this Court to join the <u>Jones</u> case as a party. t request was denied (after being opposed by the State of Florida) and he was therefore not a party to the <u>Jones</u> proceedings. The trial court erroneously found that Mr. Remeta is somehow bound by the decision in <u>Jones</u> Remeta was not a party to the <u>Jones</u> proceeding.

To the extent the trial court relied on a res judicata bar, the trial court erred. Res judicata refers to the preclusive effect of a judgment on matters that were litigated or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>701 So. 2d 76 (Fla. 1997).

could have been litigated in an earlier suit. <u>See, e.g., Migra v. Warren Citv School</u> <u>District Board of Education</u>, 465 U.S. 77 n.1 (1984). In Florida, "<u>several conditions must</u> <u>occur simultaneously</u> if a matter is to be made res judicata: identity of the thing sued for; identity of the cause of action; identitv of the parties; identity of the quality in the person for or against whom the claim is made." <u>Albrecht v. State</u>, 444 So. 2d 8, 12 (1984). This standard is legally identical to the federal standard that res judicata bars apply only when: 1) there is a final judgment on the merits; 2) the parties, or those in <u>privitv with them are identical in both suits; and</u> 3) the prior lawsuit involved the same cause of action or cause of action that could have been raised. <u>Federal Department</u> <u>Stores v. Moitie</u>, 452 U.S. 394, 398-99 (1981). Because Mr. Remeta was not a party to the <u>Wones</u> prodRemeta rio ses jedicata biartapplies.d t o h i s d a y i n court. Lake v. Lake, 103 So. 2d 639, 642 (Fla. 1958). The trial court erred.

Furthermore, Mr. Remeta alleged in his Rule 3.850 additional evidence that was not adduced in the <u>Jones</u> litigation. For example, Mr. Remeta's petition set forth substantial proffered testimony from Dr. Wikswo, who never testified at the <u>Jones</u> hearing. Also, the only issue addressed in <u>Jones</u> was whether an inmate experiences conscious pain during a judicial electrocution. Mr. Remeta challenged the constitutionality of electrocution due to the mutilation and violence occurring during and resulting from a judicial electrocution. The lower court failed to acknowledge <u>any</u> of this evidence, which was supported with substantial evidentiary proffers in two appendices. The lower court's ruling that these issues were decided in <u>Jones</u> does not comport with the motion filed by Mr. Remeta.

viii

Mr. **Remeta** requests this Court to stay his execution, reverse the order of the lower court, and order an evidentiary hearing.

#### ARGUMENT II

## THE LOWER COURT FAILED TO ADDRESS MR. REMETA'S CLAIM THAT THE FINANCIAL CRISIS OF CCRC-SOUTH WARRANTED A STAY SO THAT MR. REMETA'S COUNSEL COULD INVESTIGATE NEW LEADS WITH RESPECT TO THE RELIABILITY OF MR. REMETA'S CAPITAL TRIAL AND SENTENCING.

In his Rule 3.850 motion, Mr. Remeta urges the lower court to grant a stay of execution based on his counsel's lack of money to investigate new leads that have developed in his case. Mr. Remeta informed the court that his counsel, the Law Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - South, due to inadequate funding from the Florida legislature, had no money, cannot incur any expenses, and is thus unable to carry out their ethical obligations to Mr. Remeta.

Mr. Remeta's motion also detailed that his counsel had received numerous public records which he previously did not receive from Florida public agencies. In fact, agencies continued to disclose records until last week.<sup>4</sup> For example, the Florida Department of Law Enforcement just disclosed numerous records late last week, records which had been requested months ago and which were the subject of a motion for an order to show cause filed by Mr. Remeta. Mr. Remeta also received ten (IO) boxes of materials from the State Attorney's Office as a result of a public records request made following the signing of the death warrant. When Mr. Remeta previously made a public

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>And the Department of Corrections is supposed to provide the records relating to the Stano and Jones executions on Saturday, March 28.

records request to the State Attorney's Office, only two (2) boxes of records were

disclosed:

1. My name is Cheryl Nuss. I am employed as an investigator at Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - South. One of the cases that I am assigned to is Daniel Remeta. Part of my duties as Mr. Remeta's investigator include sending record request letters on his behalf and acting as custodian of records for all records received on his case.

2. On October 12, 1989, a records request letter was sent to the State Attorney's Office in Marion County asking for all records related to Mr. Remeta. Two boxes of material was received by our office. On December 15, 1997 a second letter requesting all files on Mr. Remeta was sent to the same State Attorney's Office. In response to that letter, ten boxes were produced and sent to our office. In addition, 11 audio tapes were provided for the first time.

3. On January 16, 1990, in response to our January IO records request letter on behalf of Mr. Remeta to FDLE, a letter was received by our office from FDLE stating that "in the event our search reveals information to which you are entitled you will be contacted immediately." No records were received by our office. On December 15, 1997, a second request letter on behalf of Mr. Remeta was sent to FDLE. In response, in February of 1998, our office received numerous records regarding Mr. Remeta.

4. On October 12, 1989, a records request letter was sent to the Ocala Police Department, asking for any and all material related to Mr. Remeta. On October 23, 1989, records were received by our office. On December 15, 1997, a second letter was sent to Ocala Police Department on behalf of Remeta. In response to this request, records were received by our office January 22, 1998. Numerous records were included in this later file that we did not receive back in 1989, such as photos and evidence receipts.

(Attachment 81 to Rule 3.850 motion) (Affidavit of Cheryl Nuss).

In the course of attempting to investigate Mr. Remeta's Kansas cases prior to the

financial crisis, Mr. Remeta's counsel also sought and obtained numerous records from

the State of Kansas, records which had never been provided by Florida authorities. For example, many of these records came from the Kansas Attorney General's Office and Kansas prosecutors office and were generated as a result of additional investigation into Lisa Dunn and J.C. Hunter, who were retried in Kansas after Mr. Remeta's first death warrant in 1990." Dunn and Hunter, of course, were involved in and had knowledge of the Florida case as well. The Kansas records also contain information about Mark Walter, the individual accompanying Daniel Remeta and Lisa Dunn in Florida and who Mr. Remeta had said was the shooter in the Florida case. For example, Mr. Remeta's counsel received a document generated by the Kansas Bureau of Investigation which bears on Mr. Remeta's defense that Walter was the shooter. This document sets forth that prior to the Florida crime, Walter was arrested in Michigan and charged with breaking and entering and stealing a rifle and a chain saw (Attachment 82 to Rule 3.850 motion). Walter denied any involvement and was administered a polygraph examination. The results were indicative of deception (Id.).

Additional records not previously disclosed provide numerous names of acquaintances of Walter, names which were previously unknown to either Mr. Remeta's postconviction counsel or his trial counsel. For example, in the files disclosed by the Marion County State Attorney's Office, a letter from the Leelanau County (Michigan) Sheriff's Department discloses an interview with a Troy Allen Ance, a roommate of Walter in Michigan (Attachment 83). Ance reports that he helped Walter move out of his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Dunn was eventually acquitted and now is awaiting trial in the State of Michigan for embezzlement.

parents home and observed and observed a black shotgun case." The document also lists the names of various acquaintances of Walter, such as AI Schriver, Jill Mikowski, and Tim Hagstrom.

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