IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANIEL EUGENE REMETA,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 30 1998



ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0438847

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0998818
444 Seabreeze Boulevard
Suite 5
Daytona Beach, Florida 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The jury recommended imposition of the death sentence and the trial judge imposed the death penalty, finding that the four statutory aggravating factors clearly outweighed the four mitigating factors.

Remeta v. State, 522 So.2d 825, 826-827 (Fla. 1988).

Remeta was extradited to Florida, where he was tried, convicted, and sentenced to death for the Ocala murder. On direct review, his conviction and sentence were affirmed by the Florida Supreme Court. Remeta v. State, 522 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 1988). The United States Supreme Court denied his petition for a writ of certiorari. Remeta v. Florida, 488 U.S. 871, 109 S. Ct. 182, 102 L.
Ed. 2d 151 (1988). Remeta next filed both a motion for state post-conviction relief with the state circuit court pursuant to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850 and a state habeas petition with the Florida Supreme Court. Following an evidentiary hearing, the trial court denied the Rule 3.850 motion. The Florida Supreme consolidated the Rule 3.850 appeal and the habeas affirmed the trial court's denial of the motion petition, post-conviction relief, and denied the habeas petition. Remeta v. Dugger, 622 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1993). Remeta then petitioned the federal district court for the Middle District of Florida for habeas corpus relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2254. In 1994, the district court denied the petition after finding that Remeta was either procedurally barred or not entitled to relief on the claims raised therein. The district court also granted Remeta's motion for a certificate of probable cause to appeal.

Remeta v. Singletary, 85 F.3d 513, 515-516 (11th Cir. 1996). The federal appellate court upheld the district court's order denying Remeta any relief. Id. at 519. The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari review on March 24, 1997. Remeta v. Singletary,

117 S. Ct. 1320 (1997).

On February 18, 1998, Remeta's CCRC attorney filed a motion to withdraw from representation of the defendant. The Marion County Circuit Court denied that motion and Remeta appealed. On March 6, 1998, this Honorable Court affirmed the trial court's denial of the motion to withdraw. Remeta v. State, No. 92,411, slip op. at 2 (Fla. March 11, 1998). On March 18, 1998, Remeta filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas. Therein, he sought to challenge the seven (7) Thomas County, Kansas convictions and sought a stay of the Florida execution scheduled for March 31, 1998. The State of Florida, on behalf of Respondent Singletary, filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction in regard to the requested stay of execution. A telephonic hearing was held on March 24, 1998. following day, the federal district judge issued an order which purported to stay the Florida execution. On March 25, 1998, an Emergency Application was filed in the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals, seeking vacation of the lower court's order. The Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals ordered Remeta to file a response to the Emergency Application by 1 o'clock on March 26, 1998, and he did Shortly, thereafter, the appellate court issued an order vacating the purported stay of the Florida execution.

On March 24, 1998, Remeta filed an Emergency Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence and Request for Evidentiary Hearing and Stay

of Execution in the Marion County Circuit Court. The State of Florida filed a Response to that Motion on March 25, 1998. A Huff¹ hearing was held that same afternoon, and an order from the Honorable Judge Carven D. Angel was entered on March 27, 1998, denying Remeta's requested relief. Notice of Appeal was given, and this appeal follows.

PROCEDURAL DEFENSES

THE 3.850 MOTION IS TIME-BARRED

On December 17, 1997, this Honorable Court entered an order scheduling oral argument in Remeta's case for March 4, 1998. Implicit therein was a directive that the circuit court Rule 3.850 litigation be concluded prior to that time. Remeta should have brought his successive Rule 3.850 motion in a timely fashion, instead of filing it less than seven days prior to his scheduled execution. In view of the lengthy period of time that Remeta has had to bring any successive Rule 3.850 motion, and his defiance of this Court's implied order regarding the time in which to file same, this Court should hold that the instant motion is untimely. See Stano v. State, No. 92,614, slip op. at 3 (Fla. March 20, 1998).

OTHER PROCEDURAL BAR DEFENSES

Each claim and sub-claim contained in Remeta's successive

^{&#}x27;Huff v. State, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

Rule 3.850 motion is untimely, successive, and an abuse of procedure which should be summarily denied. To the extent that the motion raises claims that Remeta alleges are based on "new evidence," Remeta cannot establish the due diligence component of Rule 3.850(b)(1). As a result, he is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on that issue. See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850(f); Mills v. State, 684 So.2d 801 (Fla. 1996); Bolender v. State, 658 So.2d 82 (Fla. 1995); Zeigler v. State, 632 So.2d 48 (Fla. 1993); Foster v. State, 614 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1992).

To the extent that Remeta alleges that the claims contained in the motion could not have been raised within the time limitations of Rule 3.850 because he has only now obtained the information upon which those claims are based, that claim has no factual basis. The Public Records Act (Chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes) has been available to Remeta at all relevant times. The fact that he chose not to avail himself of Chapter 119 until after his death warrant had been signed and execution scheduled establishes that he has not exercised due diligence. Because that is true, Remeta cannot avoid the preclusive effect of Rule 3.850's time limitation on the bringing of successive claims. See Zeigler v. State, 632 So.2d 48 (Fla. 1993); Zeigler v. State, 654 So.2d 1162 (Fla. 1995); Agan v. State, 560 So.2d 222 (Fla. 1990); Demps v. State, 515 So.2d 196 (Fla. 1987). The facts of this case are identical to those of

Zeigler.² Thus, Remeta cannot demonstrate "due diligence" under any definition of that term. Remeta's motion is time-barred, and relief should be denied on that basis.

In addition to being time-barred, each claim and sub-claim contained in the motion is subject to the Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850(f) successive petition bar. The claims and sub-claims are either based on grounds for relief that were decided on the merits in Remeta's prior Rule 3.850 proceedings, ox constitute an abuse of procedure because the grounds could and should have been raised in Remeta's prior collateral proceeding. Mills v. State, 684 So.2d 801 (Fla. 1996); Atkins v. State, 663 So.2d 524, 626 (Fla. 1995); Bolender v. State, 658 So.2d 82 (Fla. 1995); Zeigler v. State, 654 So.2d 1162 (Fla. 1995); Zeigler v. State, 632 So.2d 48 (Fla. 1993); Foster v. State, 614 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1992).

Remeta has also raised claims and sub-claims that could have been, but were not, raised on direct appeal. Those claims are procedurally barred under the provisions of Rule 3.850(c), which states: "This rule does not authorize relief based on grounds that could have or should have been raised at trial and, if properly preserved, on direct appeal of the judgment and sentence." See

For example, Remeta sent a letter to the Attorney General's Office on June 7, 1995, in which he purported to seek access to records. That "request" was never followed up on by Remeta. A second request was made on December 15, 1997. Remeta's CCRC investigator finally inspected the Attorney General's files on January 13, 1998.

James v. State, 615 So.2d 668 (Fla. 1993); Kelley v. State, 569 So.2d 754 (Fla. 1990); Lambrix v. State, 559 So.2d 1137 (Fla. 1990); Henderson v. State, 522 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1988).

Claims alleging "new evidence" must satisfy a two-part test before they operate to excuse an otherwise untimely filing. The asserted facts must have been unknown at the time of trial, and such facts must have not been discoverable through the exercise of due diligence. See Robinson v. State, 23 Fla.L.Weekly S85 (Fla. 1998); Blanco v. State, 702 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 1997); Jones v. State, 591 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1991). Where the alleged newly discovered evidence is discovered subsequent to the trial, the defendant "must demonstrate as a threshold requirement that his motion for relief was filed within two years of the time when evidence upon which avoidance of the time when it was based could have been discovered through the exercise of due diligence."3 Bolender v. State, 658 So.2d 82 (Fla. 1994) (citations omitted). Indeed, even "[i]f the proffered evidence meets the first prong, to merit a new trial, the evidence must substantially undermine confidence in the outcome of the prior proceedings or the newly discovered evidence must be of such a nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial." Stano v. State, No. 92,614, slip op. at 4 (Fla. March 20,1998). None of Remeta's alleged newly

³The time period is now one year. See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850.

discovered evidence claims can satisfy that standard. Thus, the denial of relief should be affirmed in all respects.

THERE IS NO BASIS FOR A STAY OF EXECUTION

Remeta has filed an untimely, successive, abusive post-conviction motion which should be summarily denied under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 and the case law that has developed concerning the various procedural bars contained in that rule. Remeta has pleaded no facts to demonstrate that he might be entitled to relief, or that an evidentiary hearing on any claim or sub-claim in the motion is required.

To the extent that Remeta alleges that he received (or is receiving) ineffective assistance of post conviction counsel, that claim is not properly raised before this Court in this proceeding. The law is clear that a claim of ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel has no legal basis, and it is not a basis for a stay of execution. See, e.g., Lambrix v. State, 698 So.2d 247 (Fla. 1996); see also Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 111 S. Ct. 2546, 115 L. Ed. 2d 640 (1991); Murray v. Giarxatano, 492 U.S. 1, 109 S. Ct. 2765, 106 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1989); Pennsylvania v. Finley, 481 U.S. 551, 107 s. ct. 1990, 95 L. Ed. 2d 539 (1987). Further, through the exercise of due diligence, Remeta could have raised any potential ineffective assistance claims based on the matters at issue herein in prior proceedings, and he "cannot continue to raise such claims in a piecemeal fashion." Buenoano v. State, No.

92,522, slip op. at 10-11, n.8 (Fla. March 26, 1998) (citations omitted). In any event, even if the due diligence component did not defeat any such claim, Remeta would still not be entitled to relief because there is no reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different. Id.

ARGUMENT4

At various points throughout this brief, the State addresses, in the alternative, the merits of Remeta's claims. The discussion of the merits is alternative and secondary to the procedural bar defenses which are adequate and independent grounds for the denial of relief. No factual averment contained in Remeta's motion or initial brief is admitted unless such is expressly indicated herein.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER HOLDING THAT REMETA'S JUDICIAL ELECTROCUTION CLAIM IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND IS FORECLOSED BY THE RESULT IN JONES V. STATE SHOULD BE UPHELD.

Remeta asserts that execution of a sentence of death by electrocution is a per se violation of the Florida Constitution, and "the manner and conditions in which the State proposes to carry

⁴In the event that Remeta raises a claim concerning the denial of the "Motion to Admit Amicus Curiae Standing" filed by his wife, there is no error associated with the denial of said motion. Durocher v. Singl etary, 623 So.2d 482 (Fla. 1993).

out"Remeta's sentence violate the State and Federal Constitutions.

(Rule 3.850 motion at 11-151). This claim was decided adversely to Remeta's position in Buenoano v. State, No. 92,622 (Fla. March 25, 1998), Jones v. Butterworth, 701 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1997), and Jones v. Butterworth, 691 So.2d 481, 482 (Fla. 1997). Thus, Remeta is not entitled to relief.

First, this claim does not allege a proper basis for granting a stay of execution, or any other relief, because it is procedurally barred. Remeta did not raise the issue on direct appeal, or in his first Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 Motion. See Summary of Issues Raised in Prior Proceedings. Therefore, his per se electrocution claim is procedurally barred. See 6-9, above.

Moreover, all facts pertinent to this claim Were recently decided by the Florida Supreme Court in Jones v. Butterworth, 701 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1997). That decision is the Law of this State on the issue, and Remeta is not entitled to relitigate same in his successive Rule 3.850 motion. See Bertolotti v. State, 565 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 1990); White v. State, 565 So.2d 322 (Fla. 1990); Hamblen v. State, 565 So.2d 320 (Fla. 1990); Squires v. State, 565 So.2d 318 (Fla. 1990); Buenoano v. State, 565 So.2d 309 (Fla. 1990).

To the extent that Remeta attacks the constitutionality of execution by electrocution per se under the state and/or federal

constitutions, such claim is procedurally barred and/or without merit, as this Court held in the initial Jones opinion. Jones, 691 So.2d at 482. See, e.g., Mills v State, 684 So.2d at 801; Atkins v. State, 663 So.2d 624, 627 (Fla. 1995) ("endless repetition of claims is not permitted"); Francis v. Barton, 581 So.2d 583, 584 (Fla. 1991) (habeas corpus is not to be used to relitigate issues considered in prior proceedings). All matters which could have been asserted earlier, through due diligence, are procedurally barred at this juncture.

any challenge under the state and/or federal constitution to Florida's electric chair in its present condition, Remeta has failed to demonstrate any reason why the Florida Supreme Court's recent decision in Jones v. Butterworth should not be controlling. Virtually all of the matters contained in the appendix to Remeta's petition were presented to either the circuit court, this Court, or both, in the Jones case. This Court, as well as the circuit court in Jones, has already considered the testimony of Remeta's experts, such as Oren Devinsky, Theodore Bernstein, Deborah Denno, Jonathan Arden, Robert Krischner, and David Price. this Court specifically afforded Jones an evidentiary hearing so that this testimony could be presented. Jones v. Butterworth, 695 So.2d 679 (Fla. 1997). The declaration of Dr. Wikswo was presented to this Court as part of Jones' appeal in Case No. 90,231. In this Court's final opinion in Jones, this Court not

only found that Florida's electric chair does not constitute cruel or unusual punishment, citing to such federal precedents as Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 96 S.Ct. 2909, 49 L.Ed.2d 859 (1976), and Louisiana ex rel Francis v. Resweber, 329 U.S. 459, 67 S.Ct. 374, 91 L.Ed.2d 422 (1947), but also expressly rejected the contention that either Farmer v. Brennan, 511 U.S. 825, 114 S.Ct. 1970, 128 L.Ed.2d 811 (1994), or "the evolving standards of decency" (as exemplified by the number of jurisdictions which continue to utilize electrocution as a means of execution) provided any basis for relief. Jones, 701 So.2d at 79. Remeta, who has completely ignored the above holdings, provides no good cause for this Court to revisit them, and no relief is warranted as to this claim.

Moreover, the claims contained in Remeta's successive Rule 3.850 motion are based solely on the events of the execution of Pedro Medina in March of 1997. Subsequent to the Medina execution, there have been two more executions in Florida, both of which occurred without incident. Because that is so, Remeta has raised no claim that has not been litigated and decided by the Florida Supreme Court in the Jones decision. Each and every component of Remeta's judicial electrocution claim was decided by that Court in Jones, and that result is binding on this Court. Remeta is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing that will present essentially no new evidence beyond that presented in Jones. This Court's decision in Jones is controlling precedent. This claim is procedurally

barred.

In footnote 5 of page 11 of his Motion, Remeta claims that the per se electrocution issue is properly before this Court based upon this Court's actions in the Buenoano death warrant litigation. He is incorrect. In Buenoano, this Court expressly held the electrocution per se claim procedurally barred (as the trial court had also done). Buenoano v. Chiles, No. 92,572 (Fla. March 18, 1998). This claim is squarely foreclosed. The trial court's order summarily denying same should be upheld.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REJECTING REMETA'S INADEQUATE FUNDING CLAIM.

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